Eastern Kentucky University Encompass

Online Theses and Dissertations

Student Scholarship

January 2014

Population genetics of wood frogs (Lithobates sylvaticus) in a forested ridge-top wetland ecosystem

Jennifer R. Strong Eastern Kentucky University

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/etd Part of the <u>Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Strong, Jennifer R., "Population genetics of wood frogs (Lithobates sylvaticus) in a forested ridge-top wetland ecosystem" (2014). *Online Theses and Dissertations*. 319. https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/319

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Online Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact Linda.Sizemore@eku.edu.

POPULATION GENETICS OF WOOD FROGS (Lithobates sylvaticus) IN A

FORESTED RIDGE-TOP WETLAND ECOSYSTEM

By

Jennifer R. Strong

Thesis Approved:

hair, Advisory Committee

Member, Advisory Committee

Member, Advisory Committee

Dean, Graduate School

STATEMENT OF PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Master of Science degree at Eastern Kentucky University, I agree that the Library shall make it available to borrowers under rules of the Library. Brief quotations from this thesis are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgment of the source is made. Permission for extensive quotation from or reproduction of this thesis may be granted by my major professor, or in his absence, by the Head of Interlibrary Services when, in the opinion of either, the proposed use of the material is for scholarly purposes. Any copying or use of the material in this thesis for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Signature Jew Stres Date 10/23/14

POPULATION GENETICS OF WOOD FROGS (Lithobates sylvaticus) IN A

FORESTED RIDGE-TOP WETLAND ECOSYSTEM

By

Jennifer R. Strong

Bachelor of Science Ball State University Muncie, Indiana 2012

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Eastern Kentucky University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December 2014 Copyright © Jennifer Strong, 2014 All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Stephen Richter, for his support, guidance, and unyielding patience without whom this project would not have been possible. I thank committee members Dr. Pat Calie and Dr. Amy Braccia for their perspective and support. I thank the University of Kentucky Advanced Genetic Technologies Center (UK-AGTC) for sample analyses. I would like to thank Chelsea Kross for her advice and laboratory and field assistance, as well as John Yeiser and Cory Abrams for their help in the field. Research was funded by Kentucky NSF EPSCoR. Additional support was provided by Eastern Kentucky University's Department of Biological Sciences.

ABSTRACT

An important aspect of conservation biology is understanding how land-use changes impact biodiversity. Ridge-top wetlands are unique habitat for pond-breeding amphibians and the Daniel Boone National Forest (DBNF) contains natural forested ridge-top wetlands in close proximity to constructed wetlands intermixed across the same landscape. Genetic data can be used to address current population status, probability of persistence, and population connectivity. The objective of this study was to determine the amount and distribution of population genetic diversity of wood frogs in natural ridge-top wetlands and what factors influence this. Genetic data were analyzed for nine microsatellite DNA loci from twenty-five wood frog egg clutches at each of five randomly selected natural wetlands. Overall, genetic variation was measured by calculating observed heterozygosity (0.250-0.960), expected heterozygosity (0.270-0.913), and mean allelic richness (8.83–11.95). The results from program STRUCTURE gave support for 3 genetic clusters, and overall F_{ST} was 0.054 \pm 0.022 SE among populations. Three populations exhibited signs of a recent population bottleneck event within populations. Pairwise F_{ST} and D_{ST} values were correlated, with D_{ST} indicating slightly higher population divergence. Isolation by distance was significant (P = 0.0354; $R^2 = 0.445$), indicating that geographic distance between the wetlands was an important factor explaining genetic differentiation. Future work should focus on expanding the sampling to a larger scale and sampling both natural and constructed wetlands between the sites to understand more fully how the genetic variation is partitioned across the landscape. For example, wood frogs have been observed breeding in both constructed and natural wetlands, which may demonstrate source/sink dynamics, and predation on wood

frog eggs in constructed wetlands may decrease overall wood frog genetic diversity over time.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	5
Study Species	5
Site Selection and Wetland Sampling	6
Genetic Data Collection	7
Genetic Analyses	7
III. RESULTS	10
Microsatellite Diversity and HWE	10
Population Differentiation	11
IV. DISCUSSION	13
Population Genetic Diversity	13
Genetic Differentiation	15
Conservation and Future Work	17
LITERATURE CITED	19
APPENDICES	27
A. List of Tables	27
B. List of Figures	

LIST OF TABLES

TABLES	PA
Table 1. Primer information for twelve Lithobates sylvaticus microsatellite DNA loci. Primers were developed by Julian and King (2003)	28
Table 2. Observed (H_0) and expected (H_E) heterozygosity, F_{IS} , and D_{ST} for each locus and mean allelic richness for each <i>Lithobates sylvaticus</i> population in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky. Loci out of HWE within populations are shown in bold.	29
Table 3. Results from a Wilcoxon's test preformed using BOTTLENECK for five populations of <i>Lithobates sylvaticus</i> under three mutation models. Results shown a P-values based on 5000 replicates. I.A.M. = Infinite alleles model, T.P.M. = Two-phase mutation model, and S.M.M = Stepwise mutation model	are 30
Table 4. Genetic distance values for <i>Lithobates sylvaticus</i> populations in the Danie Boone National Forest, Kentucky. Pairwise F_{ST} values are reported below the diagonal, and geographic distance (km) values are above diagonal	21 30
Table 5. Wetland variables used to explain the variation of genetic variability	30
Table 6. Evanno statistics including log likelihood and delta K for the detection of <i>Lithobates sylvaticus</i> populations using STRUCTURE v 2.3.4. In both the prior an non prior sampling runs, a K value of three was most supported	ıd 31

PAGE

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURES	PAGE
Figure 1. Topographic map of Jackson County, Kentucky with five r indicated by stars	natural wetlands
Figure 2. Mean (± 1 SE) observed heterozygosity and mean expected for five populations of <i>Lithobates sylvaticus</i> in the Daniel Boone Na Kentucky	d heterozygosity tional Forest, 34
Figure 3. Histogram of allele frequency distribution for all genotyped the five populations of <i>Lithobates sylvaticus</i> in the Daniel Boone Na Kentucky. Allele frequencies are grouped into 0.1 class intervals alo	d loci by each of tional Forest, ng the x-axis36
Figure 4. Genetic distance ($F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST})$ plotted against geographic diall sampling sites in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky. The represents the best-fit linear regression and R^2 value	istance (km) for ne solid line 37
Figure 5. Visualizations of <i>Lithobates sylvaticus</i> individuals using S' HARVESTER of the most supported value of K=3. The top graph sh assigned to groups without prior location knowledge, and the bottom individuals assigned to groups with prior location	TRUCTURE nows individuals n graph shows
Figure 6. Map of Jackson County, Kentucky. Natural wetlands are la Dale30 (D30), Lynch Pond (LP), High Knob (HK), Sand Gap (SG), Fork	beled as stars and Rolling
(RF)	39
Figure 7. Map of Jackson County, KY. Natural wetlands used in my labeled with red stars, other natural wetlands are labeled as black sta constructed wetlands are labeled as blue circles	study are rs, and 40
Figure 8. Aerial view of Jackson County, KY. Natural wetlands used labeled as red stars, other natural wetlands are labeled as black stars, wetlands are labeled with blue circles	l in my study are and constructed

CHAPTER 1

I. INTRODUCTION

An important aspect of conservation biology is understanding how land-use changes impact biodiversity (Schwenk and Donovan 2011; Richardson 2012). Patch size affects population size and distribution, and the degree of population connectivity among fragmented suitable habitats across the landscape is driven by types of land use between patches (Ricketts 2001; Cushman 2006; Cushman et al. 2006). Additionally, connectivity and response to changes in the landscape will vary among species because of their different life histories and abilities to disperse across various land-use types (Gibbs 1998; Graeter et al. 2008; Richardson 2012). Types of biodiversity include ecosystem diversity, functional diversity, species diversity, and genetic diversity.

One type of biodiversity, genetic diversity, aids in sustaining viable populations and, therefore, regional species diversity (Wake and Vredenburg 2008), and studies focusing on the distribution of genetic diversity provide estimates of effective migration and gene flow (Julian et al. 2003). Genetic diversity can be defined as a measure of genetic variability within a population, such as the number of alleles per locus (Hughes et al. 2008; Scherer et al. 2012). Impacts to genetic diversity include habitat fragmentation, genetic drift, and population age and size (Scherer et al. 2012).

Wetland systems are important for maintaining regional biodiversity and provide key habitat for pond-breeding amphibians (Curado et al. 2011; Brown and Richter 2012). The terrestrial upland habitat surrounding wetlands is equally important for amphibian biodiversity through protection of water resources and habitat for life-history functions, including feeding, overwintering, and juvenile dispersal (Guerry and Hunter 2002;

Semlitsch and Bodie 2003; Cushman 2006). One type of wetland, forested ridge-top wetlands, is found across the eastern part of the state and is a primary amphibian breeding habitat (Brown and Richter 2012). Ridge-top wetlands are unique because of their geographic isolation from other natural wetlands and streams, occurrence on flat terrain, and ephemeral hydrology, and they contribute to vital ecological and landscape services such as provide habitat for diverse flora and fauna and filter sediments from surface water (Brown and Richter 2012; Kirkman et al. 2012). Ephemeral ridge-top wetlands in eastern Kentucky support an amphibian community of twelve species including some specialists of ephemeral wetlands: marbled salamanders (*Ambystoma opacum*), four-toed salamanders (*Hemidactylium scutatum*), wood frogs (*Lithobates sylvaticus*), and eastern spadefoots (*Scaphiopus holbrookii*) (Denton and Richter 2013; Drayer 2011).

Wetland loss and other habitat destruction and fragmentation have contributed to the recent decline in biodiversity, especially of amphibians because of their need for a moist environment and small body size (Gibbs 1998; Hayes et al. 2010; Buck et al. 2011; Curado et al. 2011). In the United States, most natural wetlands have been lost or degraded; Kentucky has lost more than 80% of its historic wetlands (Dahl 2000; Brown and Richter 2012). Because anthropogenic modifications occur over shorter time frames than natural processes, they can lead to rapid population subdivision and reduced connectivity (Crosby et al. 2009; Scherer et al. 2012). Therefore, when wetlands or the surrounding habitat become degraded and fragmented, genetic diversity can be severely reduced (Andersen et al. 2004; Cushman et al. 2006; Greenwald et al. 2008; Richter et al. 2009; Rivera-Ortíz et al. 2014).

Genetic data can be used to address current population status (i.e. health, viability) and probability of persistence (Cosentino et al. 2011). Additionally, genetic data are useful in identifying population connectivity as it relates to landscape heterogeneity or geographic distance (Cushman 2006). Landscape features can influence population structure by facilitating or limiting individual dispersal (Crosby et al. 2009). Thus, suitable habitat, such as wetland density, can influence genetic patterns and connectivity across a landscape (Scribner et al. 2001). Highly variable genetic markers are required to detect fine-scale dispersal patterns, dynamics of metapopulations, interspecific interactions, and distribution of genetic variation (Newman and Squire 2001; Jehle and Arntzen 2002). One example of such markers is microsatellite DNA, which is short repeats of nucleotide sequences in non-coding regions of eukaryote DNA that differ among individuals in the number of repeats (Jehle and Arntzen 2002).

In the Daniel Boone National Forest (DBNF) wetland system, the number and distribution of natural wetlands provides an ideal situation to address how genetic diversity is distributed across the landscape and what factors influence this. The DBNF contains natural forested ridge-top wetlands, which have temporary hydrology, and constructed wetlands, most of which have permanent hydrology, that are intermixed across the same landscape (Brown and Richter 2012). Wood frogs (*Lithobates sylvaticus*) are good representative species of the natural wetland community because they breed in temporary wetlands, have low to no reproductive success in constructed wetlands, and are widely distributed throughout the DBNF and eastern North America (Berven 1990; Newman and Squire 2001; Drayer 2011; Kross 2014). Therefore, my study focused on wood frog populations in natural wetlands.

The objective of this study was to determine the amount and distribution of population genetic diversity of wood frogs in natural ridge-top wetlands and what factors influence this. I predicted there would be a direct relationship between genetic diversity and the number of clutches deposited per wetland and the number of natural and constructed wetlands in close proximity to each sampled population. I also predicted that there would be evidence of fine scale genetic structure and that isolation by distance would best explain genetic structure of *L. sylvaticus*.

CHAPTER 2

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Species

Wood frogs are widely distributed throughout eastern North America from the southern Appalachians to the Arctic Circle, and reach as far west as Colorado (Redmer and Trauth 2005). Females mate with only one male, and males mate with multiple females if there is an opportunity (Berven 1981; Howard and Kluge 1985). Wood frogs typically breed in temporary pools in early spring with an egg-laying period of around one week and an average clutch size of 600 to 1,000 eggs, which hatch after four days to four weeks (Harding 1997; Berven 1988). Wood frogs have a larval period between 73 and 113 days, and sexual maturity is reached one to two years following metamorphosis (Berven 1990; Newman and Squire 2001).

Larvae develop in ponds and then metamorphose and disperse into the uplands (Redmer and Trauth 2005). Post-metamorphic wood frogs disperse in late spring and summer from the ponds and return to breed the next spring (Berven and Grudzien 1990). Juveniles are able to disperse as far as 2.5 km in a generation with a mean dispersal of 1.2 km (Berven and Grudzien 1990). Once they are sexually mature, some individuals return to their natal ponds, and others disperse to other breeding sites (Berven and Grudzien 1990; Squire and Newman 2002). Most adults return to breed in the same pond where they first bred, which suggests they have well-developed homing abilities (Berven 1982; Berven and Grudzien 1990).

Previous studies of wood frog dispersal found ponds within a fine-scale radius (1,000 m) did not exhibit genetic differentiation (Berven and Grudzien 1990; Newman

and Squire 2001). Individuals can disperse over 200 m from a breeding pond, but may have restricted dispersal due to human land use such as roads, fields, or agriculture (Windmiller 1996; Homan et al. 2004). Regosin et al. (2005) found adult wood frogs tend to move toward breeding ponds during the fall and remain close to the ponds through the winter until they breed in the late winter to early spring.

Possible predators of larval *L. sylvaticus* include *N. viridescens*, insects, and spotted salamanders (*A. maculatum*) (Berven 1982). Adult wood frogs feed on invertebrates while larval diet includes algae, diatoms, decaying plant matter, and eggs and larvae of other amphibians (Harding 1997). Post-metamorphic wood frogs have an equal likelihood of mortality during the rest of their life span following a Type II survivorship curve (Berven 1990). *Lithobates sylvaticus* have an average life span of four to five years (Redmer and Trauth 2005).

Site Selection and Wetland Sampling

Many natural forested ridge-top wetlands exist in the DBNF, and five were randomly selected for the study within the Cumberland Plateau in Jackson County, Kentucky from 2011 to 2013 (Figure 1¹). Natural wetlands were randomly selected from areas where the wetland was at least 1 km from a constructed wetland. From each wetland, one egg from each of twenty-five *L. sylvaticus* egg clutches were collected and stored in 95% ethanol. Eggs were collected instead of larvae to decrease the risk of sampling closely related individuals.

¹ All Figures are located in Appendix B.

Genetic Data Collection

DNA was extracted from each tissue sample using QIAGEN DNEasy tissue protocol. Twelve loci (C11, C23, D25, D32, D40, C41, C52, C63, D70, D77, C83, and D88) were used for *L. sylvaticus* following the protocol of Julian and King (2003). DNA was amplified using polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and 3 loci were pooled per sample for genotyping using an ABI 3730 DNA Analyzer (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA). Allele lengths were scored using GeneMapper v. 3.0 (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA).

Three-primer PCR protocol was used to fluorescently label PCR products with FAM, HEX, and NED dyes. Total volume was 50ul with 10ul of DNA. An initial denaturation step of 2 min at 94°C was used followed by 38 cycles of 94°C for 45 s, 53°C for 45 s, and 72° for 1.5 min, which was followed by a final polymerization step of 72° for 2 min.

Genetic Analyses

Tests for departure from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) at each locus per population, linkage disequilibrium (LD) between all pairs of loci within each population, and calculation of allelic richness using rarefaction was performed using FSTAT v 2.9.3 (Goudet 1995). Null allele frequency was estimated with Micro-Checker v 2.2.3 (Van Oosterhout et al. 2004), and loci with >15% null allele frequency for the majority of the populations were removed (Richardson 2012). The loci with a null allele frequency of 15% or higher in only one or two wetlands were retained in analyses because when removed, they did not change the results of analyses. Observed heterozygosity (H_o),

expected heterozygosity (H_E), number of alleles, and Wright's inbreeding coefficient (F_{IS}) were calculated using GenAlEx 6.5b5 (Peakall and Smouse 2006). Additionally, F_{ST} for pairwise comparisons were calculated in GenAlEx. The significance of D_{ST} (Nei 1973) and overall Weir and Cockerham's (1984) estimator (θ) of Wright's F_{ST} was calculated in FSTAT v 2.93. D_{ST} detects genetic structure on a more historic landscape scale than does F_{ST} (Landguth et al. 2010). F_{ST} and other fixation indices are used to identify and quantify the degree of genetic differentiation among and within populations and assess the way genetic variation is distributed in natural populations. This is similar to an analysis of molecular variation (AMOVA), which uses a matrix of genetic distance among individuals that is subdivided by population samples (Bird et al. 2011).

Genetic isolation by distance (i.e., relationship between Euclidean distance and genetic distance) was tested using a Mantel test with 10,000 permutations in FSTAT v 2.9.3 (Mantle 1967; Goudet 1995). Euclidean distance was measured without consideration of surrounding habitat or geographic barriers. Additionally, regression analyses were performed in SPSS v 16.0 22 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY) to determine if wood frog clutch size or number of wetlands in a 1,000-m buffer explained the variance in genetic diversity measured by allelic richness, observed heterozygosity, and expected heterozygosity. Prior to analyses, data transformations were performed taking the square root of the allelic richness and the arcsin square root of the observed heterozygosity.

Evidence of a recent bottleneck was tested by looking for significant heterozygosity deficiency using the software BOTTLENECK based on 5,000 replications using all three models of mutation (infinite alleles model, stepwise mutation model, and

the two-phase mutation model) (Cornuet and Luikart 1996; Luikart and Cornuet 1998). The TPM was used with 95% single-step mutations and a variance among multiple steps of 12% (Piry et al. 1999). Significance was assessed using the Wilcoxon's test. Allelic frequency distributions were also assessed using the mode-shift indicator described by Luikart et al. (1998). The presence of an L-shaped frequency indicates a healthy population with a high proportion of low-frequency alleles present.

A Bayesian clustering approach in STRUCTURE v. 2.3.4 was used to determine the number of distinct genetic groups (K) and to assign individuals to groups using an admixture model (Pritchard et al. 2000). The program STRUCTURE uses genotypic data and a model-based clustering approach to infer population structure. Models assume there are K populations characterized by a set of allele frequencies at each locus and individuals are assigned to populations (Pritchard et al. 2000). STRUCTURE analysis was carried out with a burn-in of 200,000 Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) iterations followed by 500,000 iterations. For each value of K, five replications were performed and the value of K that best fit the data was determined by averaging the five replicates. Two separate analyses were performed with consideration of prior location and without prior location. Delta K, the average log likelihood of data, and the value of K were estimated in STRUCTURE HARVESTER (Evanno 2005; Earl and vonHolt 2011) and assignment of individuals to genetic clusters were visualized using plots in STRUCTURE.

CHAPTER 3

III. RESULTS

Microsatellite Diversity and HWE

An average of one hundred and ten wood frogs from five localities were genotyped at 12 polymorphic microsatellite loci (Table 1²). Micro-Checker estimated null allele frequency at >15% for the majority of the populations at three loci (C11, C23, and D40); thus the three loci were removed from further analyses. For the remaining nine loci, a total of 181 alleles were observed with an average of 20.1 alleles per locus (range 6-32) (Table 1). After rarefaction, allelic richness was highest at the RF wetland site and lowest at SG (Table 2). Observed heterozygosity (Ho) and expected heterozygosity (H_E) among loci was variable: 0.250–0.960 and 0.270–0.913, respectively (Table 2) (Figure 2). Five loci were out of Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in three of the five populations (Table 2). Deviations from Hardy-Weinberg expectations could be explained by insufficient sample size, substructuring such as a Wahlund effect, inbreeding, or presence of null alleles. No evidence of linkage disequilibrium was observed across all pairs of loci.

Evidence was found from a Wilcoxon's test in BOTTLENECK through the S.M.M. model to suggest there was a recent bottleneck event in D30 (P = 0.002), LP (P = 0.014), and RF (P = 0.006) (Table 3) because of a heterozygote deficiency. The mode

² All Tables are located in Appendix A.

shift test indicated low-frequency alleles were present in all populations, indicated by an L-shaped frequency (Figure 3).

Population Differentiation

Estimates of overall F_{ST} indicated significant levels of genetic differentiation among populations ($F_{ST} = 0.054 \pm 0.022$; 95% CI = 0.017–0.096). Pairwise F_{ST} ranged from 0.020 to 0.053 (Table 3). Pairwise F_{ST} and D_{ST} values showed a similar pattern, with D_{ST} indicating slightly higher population divergence, ranging from -0.004 to 0.126 (Table 4). The Mantel test for IBD showed there was a significant positive relationship between pairwise F_{ST} and geographical distance (P = 0.035). Percent of the variance of F_{ST} explained by geographic distance was 44% (Figures 4).

There was no significant relationship between number of clutches deposited in each wetland and genetic variability measured by allelic richness (F = 0.006, df = 4, P = 0.945), expected heterozygosity (F = 0.058, df = 4, P = 0.825), and observed heterozygosity (F = 0.77, df = 4, P = 0.799) (Table 5). Additionally, there was no significant difference between the number of wetlands within a 1,000-m buffer and genetic diversity measured by allelic richness (F = 0.308, df = 4, P = 0.618), expected heterozygosity (F = 0.395, df = 4, P = 0.574), and observed heterozygosity (F = 0.460, df = 4, P = 0.546) (Table 5). Wetland size was not used in statistical models because it was correlated to number of clutches size (Pearson r = 0.713).

Under the admixture model, STRUCTURE determined the mean log probability of the data was greatest for K = 3, with three distinct groups of *L. sylvaticus* (Table 6). Both models, with sampling location included as a prior and without, gave similar results and values did not change greatly when sampling location was included as a prior (Table 6; Figure 5). When results were visualized using STRUCTURE HARVESTER, more migrants were indicated based on the model without prior sampling location (Figure 5).

CHAPTER 4

IV. DISCUSSION

The results of my study indicated that genetic diversity measured by allelic richness, observed heterozygosity, and expected heterozygosity is similar to other wood frog populations. However, there was evidence of a recent bottleneck event in three of the five populations. There is weak genetic structure among *L. sylvaticus* populations and three distinct genetic groups, suggesting habitat fragmentation or landscape features are affecting the patterns of genetic variation.

Population Genetic Diversity

Overall, populations had similar genetic variation; however, the SG population had a slightly lower mean allelic richness value (8.83) and RF had a slightly higher value (11.95) than the other three populations (Table 2). Genetic diversity was similar to that of other studies. The mean allelic richness (8.83–11.95) is slightly higher compared to Peterman et al. (2013), who found a range of allelic richness from 4.25–5.5, and Crosby et al. (2009), who found a range of 5.88–10.98. However, mean observed heterozygosity (0.581–0.719) and expected heterozygosity (0.736–0.780) is similar to Crosby et al. (2009): observed heterozygosity (0.661–0.798) and expected heterozygosity (0.633– 0.800) and Peterman et al. (2013): observed heterozygosity (0.66 \pm 0.10).

The DBNF contains natural forested ridge-top wetlands and constructed wetlands intermixed across the same landscape because the initial purpose of constructing wetlands was to provide permanent water sources for game wildlife in an ecosystem in which natural wetlands dry during the summer (Brown and Richter 2012). Genetic

diversity is still relatively high despite the number of constructed wetlands in close proximity to natural wetlands. This may mean there is little adverse effect on genetic diversity in wood frogs that breed in natural wetlands that are in close proximity to constructed wetlands that contain predators such as eastern newts (*Notophthalmus viridescens*) that predate on the eggs laid there (Kross 2014). However, because the constructed wetlands have been introduced in the relatively recent past (most of them within a 30-year period), the effect on wood frog genetic diversity may be too recent to detect.

There was evidence of a recent bottleneck event in three of the five populations. When the constructed wetlands were placed in close proximity to natural wetlands, individuals might have begun breeding in the constructed wetlands, which would act to subdivide the historically larger population. The natural wetlands may be acting as population sources, and extinction and recolonization dynamics may play an important role in the system. Habitat loss and fragmentation can cause a decrease in allelic richness and cause population bottlenecks (Rivera-Ortíz et al. 2014). For example, Scherer et al. (2012) found evidence of a recent bottleneck event in wood frog populations, which was explained by recent disturbances and fragmentation. However, other similar studies found no evidence of bottleneck events when they were predicted based on land-use change (Zellmer and Knowles 2009; Peterman et al. 2013). More sampling from wetlands in the area and analysis of historic land use is needed to fully understand why bottleneck events occurred.

Clutch size and number of wetlands within a 1,000-m buffer were not shown to explain the variation seen in genetic diversity. This is different than what was expected

because D30 and LP wetlands with the highest clutch size and most breeding pairs were predicted to have more genetic diversity than the other wetlands measured by allelic richness, observed heterozygosity, and expected heterozygosity. The number of wetlands within a 1,000-m buffer was used as a factor to explain genetic variation because increased wetland density was predicted to have a positive effect on genetic diversity, but no patterns were found.

Genetic Differentiation

The overall F_{ST} value (0.054) with a geographic scale of < 13 km (3.8–12.2 km between sites) can be compared to other similar studies of *L. sylvaticus* genetic structure. Some studies found little evidence of genetic structure in wood frog populations with distances between them of 50 m–20 km (Newman and Squire 2001; Squire and Newman 2002; and Julian and King 2003). Richardson (2012) found the overall F_{ST} value 0.016, which is lower than my study. This is most likely because sampling was concentrated along one ridge with a high density of wetlands compared to the less continuous landscape in the DBNF. Population differentiation, measured by pairwise F_{ST} values, in my study (0.020–0.053) were similar to that of other studies which suggests relatively high connectivity and little genetic structure (Gabrielsen et al. 2013). Zellmer and Knowles (2009) found a similar pairwise F_{ST} range of -0.008–0.087 with a larger scale range of around < 1–25 km. Peterman et al. (2013) had a pairwise F_{ST} range of 0.0001– 0.071 and a scale range of 0.961–22.971 km. Genetic differentiation might be low in my study because the sites are distributed across a forested landscape and have many natural

wetlands located in close proximity, making a higher density of populations and more likely to share genes, have less genetic differentiation, and higher connectivity.

Although IBD was statistically supported, the genetic clustering results in STRUCTURE gave the most support for three genetic groups of wood frogs in the study system. Visualizations of the no prior location graph (Figure 5) gave support for recent migrants between D30 and LP populations. Although the two populations have a relatively large distance between them (Table 4), they are part of one distinct genetic group. This could be because there are wetlands interspersed between the two populations that allow for gene flow between the populations, and if sampled would show recent migrants from the two populations (Figure 7). Juveniles are the main dispersers of the species, and are able to travel up to 2.5 km, which may explain why there is low genetic structure between the five sites if gene flow occurs between wetlands over several generations. Because D30 and LP are part of one distinct genetic group, the wetlands between them could be sampled to determine if juveniles are facilitating gene flow, or historically the populations were more connected and have recently been fragmented. Additionally, D30 and LP are the largest natural wetlands in the study, and produced the highest number of egg clutches (Table 5) and may be acting as population sources for the surrounding wetlands. Populations SG and HK were shown to be one genetic group. This was expected because the wetlands are in close proximity to one another, and there is a large distance between the two wetlands and the other three natural wetlands (Figure 6). The RF population was a distinct genetic population. Although it is geographically close (6.1 km) to the wetland D30, there is urban development directly adjacent to RF between it and D30 (Figure 8). This could be preventing dispersal to the intervening wetlands.

Previous studies at the same geographic scale showed similar results. Scherer et al. (2012) found two distinct genetic groups of wood frogs in the Rocky Mountain National Park, Colorado. Over a larger scale, Richardson (2012) found three distinct genetic groups of wood frogs in Connecticut.

Conservation and Future Work

This research aids in the overall understanding of wood frog population genetics and specifically increases the knowledge of genetic diversity and structure of populations of wood frogs in the DBNF, Kentucky. No research has been conducted on population genetics of amphibians in the DBNF, and the data collected can be used as a reference to compare to future studies focusing on genetic structure and overall health of amphibian populations. In addition to genetic data, wetland size and wood frog clutch size can be used to monitor future populations of wood frogs in the system.

Future work in the DBNF should include looking at the relationship of constructed wetlands and natural wetlands. Because constructed wetlands have been built in close proximity to natural wetland and support a different community (Denton and Richter 2013; Drayer 2011), there are potential interactions between the constructed and natural species. The outcome of these interactions could include disease transfer or predation of the natural species such as wood frogs by species in the constructed wetlands (Richter et al. 2013; Kross 2014), which could affect population structure and genetic diversity. Constructed wetlands may be acting as population sinks, and natural wetlands acting as sources. In addition, more wetlands should be studied across a larger scale to

determine if there is a relationship between the density and distribution of natural and constructed wetlands and population genetic diversity of wood frogs.

Habitat fragmentation can influence long-term persistence of amphibian populations (Cushman 2006), and should be taken into consideration in any future studies. In the future, landscape features such as distance, roads, topography, aspect, and land cover should be analyzed to see if there is a relationship to genetic structure. Landscape genetics focuses on geographic and environmental features to explain population structure (Crosby et al. 2009). It is important for conservation biology to understand how habitat alteration affects populations so successful management strategies can be implemented and preserve the remaining amphibian species.

Literature Cited

- Andersen, L. W., K. Fog, and C. Damgaard. 2004. Habitat fragmentation causes bottlenecks and inbreeding in the European tree frog (*Hyla arborea*). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 271:1293–1302.
- Berven, K. A. 1981. Mate choice in the wood frog, *Rana sylvatica*. Evolution 35:707–722.
- Berven, K. A. 1982. The genetic basis of altitudinal variation in the wood frog *Rana* sylvatica. I. An experimental study of life history traits. Evolution 36:962–983.
- Berven, K. A. 1988. Factors affecting variation in the reproductive traits within a population of wood frogs (*Rana sylvatica*). Copeia 1988:605–615.
- Berven, K. A. 1990. Factors affecting population fluctuations in larval and adult stages of the wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*). Ecology 71:1599–1608.
- Berven, K. A. and T. A. Grudzien. 1990. Dispersal in the wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*): Implications for genetic population structure. Evolution 44:2047–2056.
- Bird, C. E., P. E. Smouse, S. A. Karl, and R. J. Roonen. 2011. Detecting and measuring genetic differentiation. In: Crustacean Issues; Phylogeography and Population Genetics in Crustacea (eds Koenemann S, C. Held, and C. Schubart), pp. 31–55. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Brown, D. R. and S. C. Richter. 2012. Meeting the challenges to preserving Kentucky's biodiversity. Sustain 25:22–23.
- Buck, J. C., E. A. Scheessele, R. A. Relyea, and A. R. Blaustein. 2011. The effects of multiple stressors on wetland communities: Pesticides, pathogens, and competing amphibians. Freshwater Biology 1–13.

- Cornuet, J. M. and G. Luikart. 1996. Description and power analysis of two tests for detecting recent population bottlenecks from allele frequency data. Genetics 144:2001–2004.
- Cosentino, B. J., C. A. Phillips, R. L. Schooley, W. H. Lowe, and M. R. Douglas. 2011. Linking extinction-colonization dynamics to genetic structure in a salamander metapopulation. Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological Sciences 279:1575– 1582.
- Crosby, M. K. A., L. E. Licht, and J. Fu. 2009. The effect of habitat fragmentation on finescale population structure of wood frogs (*Rana sylvatica*). Conservation Genetics 10:1707–1718.
- Curado, N., T. Hartel, and J. W. Arntzen. 2011. Amphibian pond loss as a function of landscape change: A case study over three decades in an agricultural area of northern France. Biological Conservation 144:1610–1618.
- Cushman, S. A. 2006. Effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on amphibians: A review and prospectus. Biological Conservation 128:231–240.
- Cushman, S. A., K. S. McKelvey, J. Hayden, and M. K. Schwartz. 2006. Gene flow in complex landscapes: testing multiple hypotheses with causal modeling. American Naturalist 168:486–499.
- Dahl, T.E. 2000. Status and Trends of Wetlands in the Conterminous United States 1986 to 1997. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C.
- Denton, R. D. and S. C. Richter. 2013. Amphibian communities in natural and constructed ridge top wetlands with implications for wetland conservation. Journal of Wildlife Management 77:886–889.

- Drayer, A. 2011. Efficacy of constructed wetlands of various depths for natural amphibian community conservation. Eastern Kentucky University, Richmond, KY.
- Earl, D. and B. M. vonHolt. 2011. Structure Harvester: a website and program for visualizing structure output and implementing the Evanno method. Conservation Genetics Resources 4:359–361.
- Evanno G., S. Regnaut, and J. Goudet. 2005. Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. Molecular Ecology 14:2611–2620.
- Gabrielsen, C. G., A. I. Kovach, K. J. Babbitt, and W. H. McDowell. 2013. Limited effects of suburbanization on the genetic structure of an abundant vernal poolbreeding amphibian. Conservation Genetics 14:1083–1097.
- Gibbs, J. P. 1998. Amphibian movements in response to forest edges, orads, and strambeds in southern New England. Journal of Wildlife Management 62:584– 589.
- Goudet, J. 1995. FSTAT (version 1.2): a computer program for calculating F-statistics. Journal of Heredity 86:485–486.
- Graeter, G. I., B. B. Rothermel, and J. W. Gibbons. 2008. Habitat selection and movement of pond-breeding amphibians in experimentally fragmented pine forests. Journal of Wildlife Management 72:473–482
- Greenwald, K. R., H. L. Gibbs, and T. A. Waite. 2008. Efficacy of land-cover models in predicting isolation of marbled salamander populations in a fragmented landscape. Conservation Biology 25:1232–1241.

- Guerry, A. D. and M. L. Hunter Jr. 2002. Amphibian distributions in a landscape of forests and agriculture: an examination of landscape composition and configuration. Conservation Biology 16:745–754.
- Harding, J.H. 1997. Amphibians and Reptiles of the Great Lakes Region. The University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor.
- Hayes, T. B., P. Falso, S. Gallipeau, and M. Stice. 2010. The cause of global amphibian declines: A developmental endocrinologist's perspective. Journal of Experimental Biology213:921–933.
- Homan, R. N, B. S. Windmiller, and J. M. Reed. 2004. Critical Thresholds associated with habitat loss for two vernal pool-breeding amphibians. Ecological Applications 14:1547–1553.
- Howard, R. D. and A. G. Kluge. 1985. Proximate mechanisms of sexual selection in wood frogs. Evolution 39:260–277.
- Hughes, A. R., B. D. Inouye, M. T. J. Johnson, N. Underwood, and M. Vellend. 2008.Ecological consequences of genetic diversity. Ecology Letters 11:609–623.
- Jehle, R. and J. W. Arntzen. 2002. Review: Microsatellite markers in amphibian conservation genetics. Herpetological Journal 12:1–9.
- Julian, S. E. and T. L King. 2003. Novel tetranucleoide microsatellite DNA markers for the wood frog, *Rana sylvatica*. Molecular Ecology Notes 3:256–258.
- Julian, S. E., T. L. King, and W. K. Savage. 2003. Isolation and characterization of novel tetranucleotide microsatellite DNA markers for the spotted salamander, *Ambystoma maculatum*. Molecular Ecology Notes 3:7–9.

- Kirkman, L. K., L. L. Smith, P. F. Quintana-Ascencio, M. J. Kaeser, S. W. Golladay, and A. L. Farmer. 2012. Is species richness congruent among taxa? Surrogacy, complementarity, and environmental correlates among three disparate taxa in geographically isolated wetlands. Ecological Indicators 18:131–139.
- Kross, C. 2014. Interactions between eastern newts and wood frogs in an anthropogenically altered wetland system in eastern Kentucky. Eastern Kentucky University, Richmond, KY.
- Landguth E. L., S. A. Cushman, M. K. Schwartz, K. S. McKelvey, M. Murphy, and G. Luikarts. 2010. Quantifying the lag time to detect barriers in landscape genetics. Molecular Ecology 19:4179–4191.
- Luikart, G. and J. M. Cornuet. 1998. Empirical evaluation of a test for identifying recently bottlenecked populations from allele frequency data. Conservation Bioloy 12:228–237.
- Luikart, G., F. W. Allendorf, J. M. Cornuet, and W. B. Sherwin. 1998. Distortion of allele frequency distributions provides a test for recent population bottlenecks. Journal of Heredity 89:238–247.
- Mantel, N. 1967. The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. Cancer Research 27:209–220.
- Nei, M. 1973. Analysis of gene diversity in subdivided populations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 70:3321–3323.
- Newman, R. A. and T. Squire. 2001. Microsatellite variation and fine-scale population structure in the wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*). Molecular Ecology 10:1087–1100.

- Peakall, R. and P. E. Smouse. 2006. GenAlEx 6: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research. Molecular Ecology Notes 6:288–295.
- Peterman, W. E., S. M. Feist, R. D. Semlitsch, and L. S. Eggert. 2013. Conservation and management of peripheral populations: Spatial and temporal influences on the genetic structure of wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*) populations. Biological Conservation 158:351–358.
- Piry, S., G. Luikart, and J. M. Cornuet. 1999. BOTTLENECK: a computer program for detecting recent reductions in the effective population size using allele frequency data. Journal of Heredity 90:502–503.
- Pritchard, J. K., M. Stephens, and P. Donnelly. 2000. Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics 155:945–959.
- Redmer, M. and S. E. Trauth. 2005. Wood frogs, *Lithobates sylvaticus*. Pp. 590–593. In:M. J. Lannoo (ed.) Amphibian Declines: The Conservation Status of United StatesSpecies. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- Regosin, J. V., B. S. Windmiller, R. N. Homan, and J. M. Reed. 2005. Variation in the terrestrial habitat use by four pool-breeding amphibian species. Journal of Wildlife Management 69:1481–1493.
- Richardson, J. L. 2012. Divergent landscape effects on population connectivity in two cooccuring amphibian species. Molecular Ecology 21:4437–4451.
- Richter, S. C., B. I. Crother, and R. E. Broughton. 2009. Genetic consequences of population reduction and geographic isolation in the critically endangered frog, *Rana sevosa*. Copeia 2009:799–806.

- Richter, S. C., A. N. Drayer, J. R. Strong, C. S. Kross, D. L. Miller, and M. J. Gray. 2013. High prevalence of ranavirus infection in permanent constructed wetlands in eastern Kentucky, USA. Herpetological Review 44:464-466.
- Ricketts, T. H. 2001. The matrix matters: effective isolation in fragmented landscapes. American Naturalist 158:87–99.
- Rivera-Ortíz, F. A., R. Aguilar, M. D. C. Arizmendi, M. Quesada-Avendaño, and K. Oyama. 2014. Habitat fragmentation and genetic variability of tetrapod populations. Animal Conservation doi:10.1111/acv.12165
- Scherer, R. D., E. Muths, B. R. Noon, and S. J. Oyler-McCance. 2012. The genetic structure of a relict population of wood frogs. Conservation Genetics 13:1521– 1530.
- Schwenk, W. and T. Donovan. 2011. A multispecies framework for landscape conservation planning. Conservation Biology 25:1010–1021.
- Scribner, K. T., J. W. Arntzen, N. Cruddance, R. S. Oldham, and T. Burke. 2001.
 Environmental correlates of toad abundance and population genetic diversity.
 Biological Conservation 98:201–210.
- Semlitsch, R. D. and J. R. Bodie. 2003. Biological criteria for buffer zones around wetlands and riparian habitats for amphibians and reptiles. Conservation Biology 17:1219–1228.
- Squire T. and R. A. Newman. 2002. Fine-scale population structure in the wood frog (*Lithobates sylvaticus*) in a northern woodland. Herpetologica 58:119–130.

- Van Oosterhout, C. V., W. F. Hutchinson, D. P. M. Wills, and P. Shipley. 2004. Micro-Checker: software for identifying and correcting genotyping errors in microsatellite data. Molecular Ecology Notes 4:535–538.
- Wake, D.B., and V.T. Vredenburg. 2008. Are we in the midst of the sixth mass extinction? A view from the world of amphibians. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 105:11466–11473.
- Weir, B. S. and C. C. Cockerham. 1984. Estimating F-statistics for the analysis of population structure. Evolution 38:1353–1370.
- Windmiller, B. S. 1996. The pond, the forest, and the city: Spotted salamander ecology and conservation in a human-dominated landscape. Dissertation. Tufts University, Medford, Massachusetts, USA.
- Zellmer, A. J., and L. L. Knowles. 2009. Disentangling the effects of historic vs. contemporary landscape structure on population genetic divergence. Molecular Ecology 18:3593–3602.

APPENDIX A:

List of Tables

Locus	Repeat motif	Size range (bp)	No. of alleles	п
RsyD25	(TAGA) ₁₈	124–200	16	110
RsyD32	(TAGA)11	148–232	17	110
RsyC41	(TACA) ₈	104–160	18	109
RsyC52	(TACA) ₁₇	129–217	23	117
RsyC63	(TACA) ₁₂	145–237	21	115
RsyD70	(TAGA) ₁₇	140–340	27	116
RsyD77	(TAGA) ₁₅	165–241	32	115
RsyC83	(TACA) ₁₀	115–147	6	113
RsyD88	(TAGA) ₁₃	114–226	21	112

Table 1. Primer information for twelve *Lithobates sylvaticus* microsatellite DNA loci. Primers were developed by Julian and King (2003).

	I	D30		LP	Н	K	S	G	R	F			
п		0		0	()	(C	()			
Mean	1	0.26	1	0.82	10	.05	8.	83	11	.95			
allelic													
richness													
SE	1	1.17	1	1.22	1.	38	0.	99	1.	31			
Locus	Ho	$H_{\rm E}$	Ho	$H_{\rm E}$	Ho	$H_{\rm E}$	H_{O}	$H_{\rm E}$	Ho	$H_{\rm E}$	n	F _{IS}	D _{ST}
RsyD25	0.565	0.675	0.500	0.770	0.636	0.773	0.591	0.777	0.348	0.733	20-23	0.292	-0.004
RsyD32	0.727	0.786	0.773	0.869	0.727	0.884	0.783	0.871	0.857	0.764	21-23	0.074	0.021
RsyC41	0.739	0.868	0.450	0.851	0.909	0.871	0.739	0.827	0.857	0.907	20-23	0.146	-0.001
RsyC52	0.636	0.794	0.680	0.879	0.682	0.913	0.640	0.777	0.391	0.892	22-25	0.288	0.043
RsyC63	0.682	0.892	0.762	0.889	0.833	0.911	0.625	0.867	0.500	0.906	21-24	0.238	0.000
RsyD70	0.625	0.844	0.619	0.876	0.609	0.436	0.538	0.476	0.682	0.876	21-26	0.124	0.126
RsyD77	0.960	0.758	0.762	0.891	0.826	0.776	0.636	0.787	0.750	0.869	21-25	0.036	0.059
RsyC83	0.538	0.596	0.500	0.453	0.583	0.521	0.348	0.421	0.250	0.270	20-26	0.018	0.006
RsyD88	0.550	0.641	0.826	0.543	0.667	0.868	0.739	0.821	0.591	0.773	20-24	0.075	0.068
Mean	0.669	0.761	0.652	0.780	0.719	0.772	0.627	0.736	0.581	0.777		0.143	0.035
SE	0.044	0.035	0.047	0.055	0.038	0.059	0.044	0.056	0.074	0.067		0.035	0.014

Table 2. Observed (H₀) and expected (H_E) heterozygosity, F_{IS} , and D_{ST} for each locus and mean allelic richness for each *Lithobates sylvaticus* population in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky. Loci out of HWE within populations are shown in bold.

Table 3. Results from a Wilcoxon's test preformed using BOTTLENECK for five populations of *Lithobates sylvaticus* under three mutation models. Results shown are P-values based on 5000 replicates. I.A.M. = Infinite alleles model, T.P.M. = Two-phase mutation model, and S.M.M = Stepwise mutation model

		*	
Population	I.A.M.	T.P.M.	S.M.M.
D30	1.0000	0.0039	0.0020
LP	0.4961	0.0273	0.0137
HK	0.0273	0.7344	0.5703
SG	0.4961	0.1641	0.1641
RF	0.4961	0.0195	0.0059

Table 4. Genetic distance values for Lithobates sylvaticus populations in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky. Pairwise F_{ST} values are reported below the diagonal, and geographic distance (km) values are above diagonal.

	D30	LP	HK	SG	RF
D30	-	11.108	7.627	7.162	6.077
LP	0.033	-	8.580	12.167	6.140
HK	0.045	0.045	-	3.845	8.449
SG	0.042	0.053	0.020	-	10.532
RF	0.032	0.036	0.050	0.043	-

Table 5. Wetland variables used to explain the variation of genetic variability.

Wetland	Clutch size	Wetlands within 1,000m buffer	Wetland size (m ²)
D30	636	5	785
LP	579	1	943
HK	45	2	597
SG	133	2	274
RF	52	1	628

Κ	Mean LnP(K)	SD LnP(K)	Delta K
	No prior on Sampling Site		
1	-4679.560	0.631	_
2	-4608.840	24.268	3.112
3	-4462.600	3.752	112.904
4	-4739.940	114.274	3.138
5	-4658.680	118.462	_
	With prior on Sampling Site		
1	-4680.140	0.385	_
2	-4565.320	7.163	6.955
3	-4400.680	4.261	36.873
4	-4394.260	12.563	4.674
5	-4446.560	80.478	_

Table 6. Evanno statistics including log likelihood and delta K for the detection of *Lithobates sylvaticus* populations using STRUCTURE v 2.3.4. In both the prior and non prior sampling runs, a K value of three was most supported

APPENDIX B:

List of Figures



Figure 1. Topographic map of Jackson County, Kentucky with five natural wetlands indicated by stars.



Figure 2. Mean (\pm 1 SE) observed heterozygosity and mean expected heterozygosity for five populations of *Lithobates sylvaticus* in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky.



Figure 3. Histogram of allele frequency distribution for all genotyped loci by each of the five populations of *Lithobates sylvaticus* in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky. Allele frequencies are grouped into 0.1 class intervals along the x-axis.



Figure 3 (continued). Histogram of allele frequency distribution for all genotyped loci by each of the five populations of *Lithobates sylvaticus* in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky. Allele frequencies are grouped into 0.1 class intervals along the x-axis.



Figure 4. Genetic distance $(F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST}))$ plotted against geographic distance (km) for all sampling sites in the Daniel Boone National Forest, Kentucky. The solid line represents the best-fit linear regression and R^2 value.



Figure 5. Visualizations of *Lithobates sylvaticus* individuals using STRUCTURE HARVESTER of the most supported value of K=3. The top graph shows individuals assigned to groups without prior location knowledge, and the bottom graph shows individuals assigned to groups with prior location.



Figure 6. Map of Jackson County, Kentucky. Natural wetlands are labeled as stars Dale30 (D30), Lynch Pond (LP), High Knob (HK), Sand Gap (SG), and Rolling Fork (RF).



Figure 7. Map of Jackson County, KY. Natural wetlands used in my study are labeled with red stars, other natural wetlands are labeled as black stars, and constructed wetlands are labeled as blue circles.



Figure 8. Aerial view of Jackson County, KY. Natural wetlands used in my study are labeled as red stars, other natural wetlands are labeled as black stars, and constructed wetlands are labeled with blue circles.